INTERMODAL STIMULUS COMPOUNDING WITH AMBIENT ODORS

PRODUCES AVERAGING IN RATS

Sophia B. Kirkland, B.S.

Thesis Prepared for the Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

UNIVERSITY OF NORTH TEXAS

May 2023

APPROVED:

April Becker, Committee Chair Jesús Rosales-Ruiz, Committee Member Daniele Ortu, Committee Member Manish Vaidya, Chair of the Department of Behavior Analysis Nicole Dash, Dean of the College of Health and Public Service Victor Prybutok, Dean of the Toulouse Graduate School Kirkland, Sophia B. Intermodal Stimulus Compounding with Ambient Odors Produces Averaging in Rats. Master of Science (Behavior Analysis), May 2023, 63 pp., 29 figures, references, 76 titles.

In an organism's natural environment, there are always an uncountable number of stimuli, and stimulus features, available to gain control over behavior. When these component stimuli are presented simultaneously, this new stimulus compound can occasion a previously unseen effect on behavior. Stimulus compounding is a method used to better understand how variables in stimulus features may impact the final effect on an organism's responding when presented with a stimulus compound. While stimulus compounding experiments are often conducted using intermodal tone and light stimuli, it is conducted far less often using intramodal stimuli, potentially due to the competing stimulus features of same-modality stimuli. Even less conducted research has been done using two odor component stimuli, despite the large impact odor has on many species' behavior. The purpose of this study was to conduct a stimulus compounding experiment using intramodal ambient odor stimuli in rats, to see what kind of effect a mixed odor compound would have on the subject's behavior. This was done using a wind tunnel designed operant chamber, where both subjects were trained to respond to independently presented odor stimuli. Following training a compound mixture of both component odors was presented to the subjects. The results of this study demonstrated an averaged effect on behavior, producing a response rate under the compound mixture that was intermediate to the response rates under each independent component stimulus. This may be due to several factors, including the efficacy of initial training procedures, the efficacy of the apparatus, and the merging of the component stimuli's features.

Copyright 2023

by

Sophia B. Kirkland

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The onset, perseverance, and completion of this experiment, in its entirety, is due to the continuous and steady guidance provided by Dr. April Becker. Her support and encouragement in my academic diversions, no matter how strange, provided me with an environment to thrive as a student, researcher, and scientist. Without this, and her selection of behaviors I previously did not believe I had the capability of acquiring, I would not have the excitement and passion of learning and researching that I have today. I would also like to thank Dr. Jesús Rosales-Ruiz, who introduced me to the highly reinforcing content of stimulus control. This area of research has given me completely new ways to visualize, explore, and experiment with the world around me. I would further like to thank the members of the Neuroplasticity and Repertoire Restoration Lab for providing a supportive and collaborative verbal community, and for their extended feedback, and help in developing my apparatus. I am especially grateful to the senior students Jared Armshaw, and Carlos Lopez for exploring my research interests by my side and providing reinforcement when there was seemingly none. I am especially grateful for the support of my grandparents, Oscar and Patricia. Without their support I would never have been allowed the opportunities, or had the willpower, to pursue my academic dreams. I would like to thank my parents, Tanya and James, who have raised me to persist under difficult circumstances, and take the lessons learned from them with me into the future. Finally, I give an extra special thanks to my son Prismo, who provided me with sharp encouragement as needed.

iii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSiii
LIST OF FIGURES vi
INTRODUCTION
Determinants of Compounding
Component Conditioning Histories
Intermodal vs. Intramodal Component Stimulus Features
Stimulus Compounding using Odorants
Stimulus Compounding and Odor-Mixing Studies in Olfaction
The Challenges of Stimulus Summation using Odorants
Current Study 17
METHODS 19
Apparatus Development
Main Chamber
Olfactory Delivery and Removal System
Apparatus Validation
Apparatus Validation Subjects
Experimental Subjects
Acclimation: All Subjects
Magazine Training
Lever/Response Training
Validation Subjects
Experimental Subjects
Odor Discrimination Training
Validation Subjects
Experimental Subjects
Additive Summation Testing
RESULTS
Validation Results

Stimulus Compounding Study Subject 5 Results	30
Subject 5 Overall Results	30
Subject 5 VI5 Second Schedule of Reinforcement	30
Subject 5 Extinction	31
Subject 5 Re-Training	32
Subject 5 VI10 Second Reinforcement Schedule	33
Stimulus Compounding Study Subject 6 Results	33
Subject 6 Overall Results	33
Subject 6 VI5 Second Reinforcement Schedule	34
Subject 6 Extinction	35
Subject 6 Re-Training	36
Subject 6 VI10 Second Reinforcement Schedule	36
DISCUSSION	38
Validation	38
Stimulus Compounding Study	38
REFERENCES	57

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Front Panel of Apparatus Main Chamber	42
Figure 2. Olfactory Delivery System	43
Figure 3. Apparatus Development: Results of Experimenter Test 1	43
Figure 4. Apparatus Development: Results of Experimenter Test 2	44
Figure 5. Apparatus Development: Results of Experimenter Test 3	44
Figure 6. Subject 2 Final Cumulative Record	45
Figure 7. Subject 3 Final Cumulative Record	45
Figure 8. Subject 5 Rate per VI5 Test Session	46
Figure 9. Subject 5 Cumulative Rates of First VI5 Test Block	46
Figure 10. Subject 5 Response Distribution of VI5 Test Rates	47
Figure 11. Subject 5 Rate per Extinction Test Session	47
Figure 12. Subject 5 Cumulative Rates of First Extinction Test Block	48
Figure 13. Subject 5 Response Distribution of Extinction Test Rates	48
Figure 14. Subject 5 Rate per Re-Training Session	49
Figure 15. Subject 5 Response Distribution of Re-Training Sessions	49
Figure 16. Subject 5 Rate per VI10 Test Session	50
Figure 17. Subject 5 Cumulative Rates of First VI10 Test Block	50
Figure 18. Subject 5 Response Distribution of VI10 Test Rates	51
Figure 19. Subject 6 Rate per VI5 Test Session	51
Figure 20. Subject 6 Cumulative Rates of First VI5 Test Block	52
Figure 21. Subject 6 Response Distribution of VI5 Test Rates	52
Figure 22. Subject 6 Rate per Extinction Test Session	53
Figure 23. Subject 6 Cumulative Rates of First Extinction Test Block	53

Figure 24. Subject 6 Response Distribution of Extinction Test Rates	
Figure 25. Subject 6 Rate per Re-Training Session	54
Figure 26. Subject 6 Response Distribution of Re-Testing Sessions	55
Figure 27. Subject 6 Rate per VI10 Test Session	55
Figure 28. Subject 6 Cumulative Rates of First VI10 Test Block	56
Figure 29. Subject 6 Response Distribution of VI10 Test Rates	

INTRODUCTION

Behavior is a function of an organism's environment, and the environment's arrangement of stimuli. In behavior analysis, this simple truth often focuses on the control exerted on behavior by consequences. Antecedent conditions, however, can hold powerful control over behavior as well by occasioning the organism's reflexive behaviors and previously conditioned operant behaviors. Stimulus control occurs when a stimulus gains control of an organism's behavior due to previous contingency changes with respect to a behavior altering consequence (Perez, 2018). The organism's natural environment always contains multiple stimuli and stimulus features available to gain control of behavior. These features can be divided or combined in near immeasurable sequences throughout the organism's learning history. Thus, stimulus control over the same response can develop from multiple antecedent stimuli or features in complex environments. This project's primary aim is to investigate a particular phenomenon related to this complexity: stimulus compounding. Stimulus compounding occurs when two previously learned stimuli or stimulus features are combined and produce more exaggerated behavior (summation) or averaged behavior (averaging). This phenomenon has not often been addressed in rats using their primary sensory modality: olfaction. I therefore want to see if a mixed odor compound will produce either summation or averaging, following independent training of responses under each individual odorant component.

Stimulus compounding occurs in many everyday environments. For example, human organisms often communicate with vocal speech, which includes fluctuations in tone, as well as the words spoken. Both the speaker's tone of voice and the content of their words can individually evoke certain responses from a listener. A parent wanting to stop their child's screaming may do so by vocalizing a wordless, scolding sound. The tone of the sound itself may

be enough to occasion an alternate, more appropriate response from the screaming child. The independently whispered word "stop" may also be sufficient in occasioning this response. The combination of both the scolding tone, and the word "stop" however, might be found to be much more effective at decreasing the rate or intensity of the child's screaming. The independent presentations of the scolding tone, and the word "stop", are component stimuli. When presented simultaneously in the child's environment, these stimuli create a compound stimulus that occasions a higher probability of the appropriate response than before.

An organism's behavior can be affected in several different ways when presented with multiple stimuli simultaneously after training with each stimulus individually (Weiss, 1972). While stimulus compounding nomenclature can vary, for the purpose of clarity, this paper will use nomenclature from Weiss' 1972 review paper. Weiss (1972) describes the definitions of additive summation, averaging, and suppressive summation. These definitions are key to describing the effects of stimulus compounding on an organism's behavior. Additive summation is defined as when the response rate under the presence of the compound stimulus is higher than the response rates under the presentation of each component stimulus. Averaging is defined as when the response rate under the presence of the compound stimulus is between or intermediate to the response rates under the presence of each component stimulus. Suppressive summation is defined as when the response rate under the compound stimulus is less than the response rate under the presence of each component stimulus. A component stimulus is one of the individual stimuli that comprise a compound stimulus. A compound stimulus is the simultaneous presentation of more than one component stimulus. This can happen in several ways, including presenting the components overlapping on one another, presenting the components simultaneously but separated spatially, or combining the components together creating a mixture.

When the component independently learned stimuli are presented simultaneously as a compound, the effects are referred to as the merging of learning histories. These learning histories may summate to produce a higher or lower response rate, or they may compete to produce an averaged response rate. Compounding is an important phenomenon to consider when trying to understand how an organism reacts to the overall complexity in its natural environment pertaining to the presentation of component and compound stimuli (Perez, Martin, & Soto, 2018).

Stimulus compounding experiments are typically conducted by either using an unconditioned response (UR) under the control of two independently presented unconditioned stimuli (US) / conditioned stimuli (CS), or (under operant procedures) teaching a discriminated response separately to two antecedent stimuli. Past studies demonstrate that either classical or operant conditioning procedures can produce additive and suppressive summation (Weiss, 1969, 1971, 1972). However, some studies (e.g., Ayden & Pearce, 1997) have shown that operant training using contingent reinforcement more reliably produces summation compared to classical conditioning, perhaps because operant procedures more explicitly track and condition the discriminative function of the previously neutral stimulus (Aydan & Pearce, 1977; Holth & Arntzen, 1998; Weiss, 1972). Both positive and negative reinforcement histories can produce additive summation. Miller (1969) demonstrated additive summation using negative reinforcement by pairing independent presentations of light and tone component stimuli with the delivery of a shock. When the subjects crossed over a line on the floor, the tone or light (T, L), was terminated along with the shock. When the two components were presented simultaneously as a compound (T+L), the subject's response latency decreased below its initial rate under the presentation of either component stimulus. Kearns, Weiss, and Panlilio (2002), used operant

conditioning to produce suppressive summation of cocaine seeking behavior in rats. They did this by training rats to press a lever contingent on the delivery of cocaine on a VI schedule. Following this training, the independent presentations of both tone and light component stimuli were paired with the delivery of a shock. The delivery of this shock resulted in a decreased response rate. When these stimuli were presented as a compound, the subjects' response rate decreased below their response rate under the component stimuli.

Both Rescorla & Wagner (1972), and Pearce (1987), have developed quantitative accounts to conceptualize how the behavioral control of stimulus features may sporadically carryover from either a compound stimulus to its component stimuli or vice versa. Both accounts were originally based on classical conditioning techniques, but more recent research has tested their models using operant conditioning, producing similar results (Pearce, 2002; Weiss, 1972). Rescorla and Wagner developed an "elemental" account, emphasizing that the control held by a compound stimulus is also held by the individual compound "elements" (component stimuli). This account states that when a stimulus compound (A+B) is conditioned to control a behavior, this control (C^{C}) is held in the compound's unique stimulus feature (C^{FC}). This feature is unique to the compound stimulus, and its existence is dependent on the specific variations in the component stimuli's features (A^F, B^F). When these component features (A^F, B^F) are contained in the stimulus compound in the moment of conditioning, they are also conditioned alongside the compound stimulus' features (C^F), and consequently gain their own, individual control over the response (A^{FC}, B^{FC}). Based on this assumption, Rescola and Wagner postulate that the behavioral control held by the compound stimulus' features (CFC) is equal to the combined total control of both component stimuli's features ($A^{FC} + B^{FC} = C^{FC}$). This implies that the production

of additive summation, subtractive summation, and averaging, is dependent on the previously held control of a compound stimulus' component features.

This elemental view of stimulus features is contrasted by the "configural" account produced by Pearce (1984). This account states that the behavioral control of a compound stimulus (C^C) is held in the specific configuration of the component stimuli. When each component stimulus (A, B) is presented independently during conditioning, this independent arrangement functions as a stimulus feature (A^F, B^F), gaining control over the subject's behavior. Consequently, these stimulus features and their behavioral control can be lost in the presentation of the compound stimulus. When the component stimuli (A, B) are presented together as parts of a compound stimulus (A+B), both the component stimuli's features (A^F, B^F) and the stimulus control held by those features, dissolve together to become a new, compound stimulus feature (C^F). This new stimulus feature is unique to the compound because it is only produced due to the merging of specific component stimulus features, and therefore its control over behavior is dependent on the control previously held by each component feature.

Kehoe & Gormezano (1980) and Kehoe (1980) had a similar approach to conceptualizing compounding stimulus compounding outcomes. They describe the combination law and the interaction law. The combination law suggests that the control of the component stimuli to the behavior "combined", resulting in an increase in responding under the presence of both compounds (Kehoe & Gormezano, 1980). This implies that the stimulus control held by each component stimulus carries over when the components are presented as a compound. Therefore, the behavioral control of both components merges into a greater control on responding. The interaction law, on the other hand, implies that the control of each compound stimuli interacted with the other, resulting in a non-summative behavior under the compound stimulus (Kehoe,

1980). This implies that the stimulus control held by each component stimulus may not completely carry over when the components are presented as compound. Therefore, some of the behavioral control of either component is lost, resulting in an equal, or lower control on responding.

While these quantitative and conceptual approaches provide a framework for organizing research outcomes, an alternative (or perhaps a complimentary) approach is to identify which unconsidered variables in stimulus compounding experiments may influence the production of summation vs. averaging. Two of these potential variables include the conditioning histories paired with each independent component stimulus (Weiss, 1972), and the use of either intermodal or intramodal component stimuli (Kehoe et al., 1994; Miller, 1971, 1974; Pluta et al., 2011; Rowe, 2005; Weiss, 1964).

Determinants of Compounding

Component Conditioning Histories

Weiss (1969) developed the concept of a "composite continuum" to better understand the relationship between the contingencies paired with the individual component stimuli and the response rate produced during the total presence or absence of those component stimuli. The composite continuum represents the available combinatorial variations involving not only the presence, but also the absence of stimulus components. One can think of it as a sliding scale in which one side is the complete absence of all relevant component stimuli (e.g., $\overline{T} + \overline{L}$: no tone, no light), and on the other is the complete presence of all the relevant component stimuli (e.g., T + L). Between these two ends is the range of potential compounds that could be present or absent.

Previous studies have demonstrated that when the individual presentation of a component

stimulus (either T or L) is trained in a discrimination paradigm that includes extinction under the absence of either stimulus, $(\overline{T}, \overline{L})$ the presentation of the compound stimulus (T+L) produces a higher rate of summation, compared to when a response is conditioned without a discrimination paradigm (Weiss, 1972).-These results were produced in studies in which either the extinction of the experimental response and/or the differential reinforcement of other behaviors (DRO) occurred in the absence of either stimulus \overline{T} or \overline{L} . Both DRO and extinction in the absence of either \overline{T} or \overline{L} produces summative results (although the use of DRO produced slightly lower rates of summation compared to the use of extinction (Weiss, 1971, 1972)). While full extinction is not necessary for summation of responding to occur, it does increase the likelihood of summation being produced by the presentation of the compound stimulus.

Weiss (1972) proposed the interpretation that summation occurs because when a single component stimulus is presented to an organism, there is also a simultaneous "presentation" of the absence of the other component stimulus. The absence of the second component stimulus may gain some control over responding. If so, this absence also holds partial control over responding as an Sd. Therefore, when both stimuli are presented as a compound, these "absent stimulus" features are missing, and the compound does not contain all controlling stimulus elements. However, during extinction or DRO condition with both stimuli absent, these "stimulus absent" features may lose their control over the response and become $S\Delta s$, permitting unhampered summation to the compound stimulus.

Weiss (1969) explored this theory by testing the symmetry of the composite continuum. He first trained subjects to discriminate between the presence of each individually presented component stimulus (tone and light), and an extinction condition signaled by the presence rather than the absence of both component stimuli (T+L). After this training period, the subjects were

tested with randomized presentations of either T, L, T+L, or $\overline{T}+\overline{L}$. Results showed that the subject's response rate in the $\overline{T}+\overline{L}$ condition was significantly higher than in the presence of either T or L; i.e., summation occurred to the compounded absence of stimuli The simultaneous presentation of T+L resulted in almost no responding at all. These results demonstrate that either the presence or absence of stimuli in a discrimination paradigm can determine which side of the composite continuum summation of responses will occur. This confirms Weiss' idea that both continuum extremes are symmetrical, in the sense that they can gain equal control over responding.

Weiss & Emurian (1970) also demonstrated the symmetry of the composite continuum by training suppressive summation on responding under $\overline{T}+\overline{L}$. In their experiment, subjects were trained to a baseline rate of lever pressing using a VI schedule of reinforcement under the presence of both T+L. Following this training, either T or L was removed from the T+L compound, resulting in the independent presentation of either T or L component stimulus. Both the independent T or L component stimuli were then paired with an unavoidable presentation of shock, which suppressed responding under both T and L component stimuli. When tested with randomized presentations of T, L, T+L, and $\overline{T}+\overline{L}$, the subjects showed summative suppression during the $\overline{T}+\overline{L}$ condition. This means their response rate was lower in the absence of all stimuli than in the presence of either or both component stimuli. These results demonstrate that responses can summate under either end of the composite continuum, as also demonstrated in Weiss's (1969) study.

The composite continuum provides a generalized way for researchers to discuss the competing effects of the behavior-altering contingencies that are paired with each component stimulus, when merged in a stimulus compound. The composite continuum is compatible with

the paradigm of Pryor (1984/1999), who proposed a four-contingency approach to training true discrimination. This view postulates that training a single discriminated operant, such as responding and non-responding under the presence and absence of a stimulus, is an incomplete discrimination. This incomplete discrimination may produce insufficient control over the organism's behavior. Pryor's four-contingency approach states that in addition to training a response (R1) under one stimulus (S1), and the absence of that response in the absence of that stimulus, two additional contingencies must be established, and tested including extinguishing R1 under any other stimulus (S2), and extinguishing any other response (R2) under the S1. This ensures that true discrimination is established, gaining complete control over the organism's behavior, leading to only R1 occurring under S1, and not under S2, or R2 occurring under S1.

Davidson and Nevin (1999) extended Pryor's approach, by proposing that adding an additional contingency, by conditioning the R2 under the S2 would create a conditional discrimination consisting of two conditioned stimuli (S1 & S2), and four contingencies (S1 – R1 – Sr+) (S2 – R1 – EXT) (S1 – R2 – EXT) (S2 – R1 – SR+). Davidson and Rosales-Ruiz (2022) later used this conditional discrimination method to successfully reduce the jumping behavior in a dog by teaching discrimination between jumping and mouthing under two separate stimuli.

Intermodal vs. Intramodal Component Stimulus Features

Most studies on stimulus compounding have used intermodal compounds, which consist of component stimuli from different sensory modality systems. These stimuli interact with different sensory systems within an organism, including the visual (sight), auditory (sound), olfactory (smell), gustatory (taste), and tactile (touch) systems (Jaeger & Gabbiani, 2022; Meredith, 2002). To date, the most commonly utilized intermodal component stimuli used in stimulus compounding research are auditory (tone) and visual (light) stimuli (e.g. Weiss, 1964).

While combinations of component stimuli from other modalities are less common, some have included flavors (Delwiche & Heffelfinger, 2005; Wilson, 1977), vibrations (Kehoe & White, 2004), and smells (Cohn & Weiss, 2007).

Fewer studies have used intramodal compounds, which consist of component stimuli of the same sensory modality that interact with the same sensory systems. While intramodal compounding has been shown to produce summative effects on behavior (e.g., Huntsberry 2006, experiment 2), intermodal component stimuli seem much more reliably produce additive results than intramodal stimuli (Candy Rowe, 2005; Ghirlanda, 2022; Kehoe et al., 1994). This has been shown with many species, including rabbits, rats, pigeons, and humans, and using both classical and operant conditioning methods. An example of an experiment that demonstrates success in producing summative effects on responding to an intermodal compound, and failure with intramodal stimuli, is Kehoe (1994). Kehoe measured an eye blink reflex in rabbits after classical training under independent presentations of tone (auditory), light (visual), and noise (auditory) component stimuli. These stimuli were then presented in T+L, N+L, and T+N compounds. Results showed that additive summation occurred under the presence of the T+L compound and the N+L compound but not under the presence of the T+N compound.

While fewer published stimulus compounding studies have used intramodal stimuli, the overreaching theme from the results of these studies indicates that, while additive summation can be produced using the compound of two unimodal component stimuli, the component stimulus features play an important factor in the success of producing summation (Miller, 1971; Weiss, 1972). For example, Aydan and Pearce (1995) conducted a series of visual intramodal compounding experiments, each attempting to produce additive summation in pigeons using autoshaping, after failing to do so in 1994. They manipulated several different procedural factors,

including the reversal of component contingencies, presenting a "control" stimulus compound, presenting component stimuli for longer durations during training, and delivering food at varying interval during component presentations. Out of all these factors, only the component duration helped to produce summation, although the authors considered this summation statistically insignificant. The authors then tried again (Aydan and Pearce, 1997) by conducting several extensions of their previous experiments, which included several more procedural and environmental changes. These changes included the use of operant conditioning, spatially separating component stimuli, using both intermodal and intramodal compounds, and changes in the background color of the presented stimuli. The use of operant conditioning produced a statistically non-significant level of summation and was used in the following experiments to test the remaining factors. These experiments did not produce intramodal summation using spatially separated components but found that the background color of the presented component or compound stimulus has a significant impact on the production of summation.

The difficulty with producing summation in these and other studies (e.g. McDevitt & Fantino, 1996) may be related to the fact that intramodal stimulus compounds don't always retain all features (and may add new features) compared to training stimuli. For example, presenting two visual stimuli together may change visual properties related to background, position, or overall luminescence of stimuli. It may be difficult to predict the features that will be important for particular stimuli since subjects may come under control of various properties probabilistically (Mackintosh, 1974). In other words, combining intramodal stimuli may alter the properties of the components more than intermodal combinations. The complexities of potentially altered features of olfactory stimulus combinations might be difficult to assess for

humans, who rely little on olfaction (Nielsen et al., 2015; Sinding et al., 2015; Yeshurun & Sobel, 2010).

Stimulus Compounding using Odorants

While summation has been shown reliably across many modalities and species, one modality that is often underused in stimulus-compounding studies is olfactory stimuli, despite the importance of olfactory stimuli across a variety of species (Ache & Young, 2005; Auffarth, 2013; Batsell, 2005; Kurian et al., 2021) and despite the fact that rats (an ever-popular species in the laboratory) have an extremely well-developed olfactory system (Ache & Young, 2005; Kaupp, 2010; Staubli et al., 1987). The olfactory system begins with the binding of odorant particles to odor receptors, which create and send numerous signals through many complex neural pathways (Kurian et al., 2021; Stockhorst & Pietrowsky, 2004; Wilson & Stevenson, 2003, 2010). While the general/overall structure of the olfactory system is consistent across species, the systems of certain species are more complex and developed than others. For example, the olfactory system of human animals contains around 12 million olfactory receptor neurons (ORNs), with around 350 different receptor types (Batsell, 2005; Yeshurun, 2010; Glusman et al, 2001; Moran et al, 1982). While this may seem like an incredibly large number, it pales when compared to the systems of other non-human animals such as rats, which contain around 1430 receptor types, and dogs, which contain around 1070 receptor types. This is because unlike humans, many non-human animals throughout history have primarily depended on olfactory cues to guide their behavior in their natural environments (Auffarth, 2013). This is seen across many species, a small sample of which includes dogs (Hepper & Wells, 2005; Moser et al., 2022), cats (Ellis & Wells, 2010), lemurs (Sündermann et al., 2008), lobsters (Grasso & Basil, 2002), and rats (Wesson et al., 2009).

In short, the ecological importance of olfaction justifies systematic expansion of stimulus compounding studies into the area of olfaction. To date, only a few studies have examined olfactory summation, and still more have explored relevant stimulus-mixing effects other than summation.

Stimulus Compounding and Odor-Mixing Studies in Olfaction

Odors can be concurrently presented in several ways. Two odorants can be combined, creating an evenly blended mixture. This mixture presents the molecules of the component odorants spatially together. Alternatively, odors could be concurrently presented from different sources, causing a spatially uneven mixture of odorants that might be detectable by advanced olfactory systems. Several studies on odor signaling provide clues about how olfactory stimuli tend to function in fully mixed compounds.

Grossman (2008) used various ratio mixtures of odors to train digging responses in mice. After training, mice were presented with either the previously tested mixture, one of the component odors, or a novel unconditioned odor. While all subjects engaged in longer durations of digging in the previously conditioned odor compared to the novel odor, their duration of digging each component odor fluctuated according to the previously conditioned ratio mixture. Frederick et al., (2009) later found similar results using the same paradigm with seven compound odorant mixtures, each containing two components of varying similarity. In these studies, subjects responded more to mixed compounds of previously trained odors compared to a novel odorant, implying that the stimulus features present in the conditioned components continued to hold some level of control while presented in a mixed compound.

Conversely, Hopfield and Gelperin (1998) conducted an experiment that seems to indicate the opposite: that mixed odors may typically function as a new olfactory stimulus rather

than as a compound stimulus. They sought to see how leopard slugs would respond to presentations of two component and one compound odor stimulus (A, B, A+B) after these odors had been previously paired with an aversive stimulus while presented as either a mixed (A+B) or spatially separated (A/B) compound. Component response rates to A and B were similar to the trained composite only when the training was conducted with unmixed A/B compound. The results of this study may indicate that when odors are mixed rather than concurrently presented from spatially separate sources, the stimulus acts more as a novel stimulus than as a compound of component stimuli. Thinking of this in terms of other modalities seems to follow; a mixture of a red and a blue stimulus looks like a purple stimulus rather than a compound. The question of whether spatial distinction is necessary for compounding to occur could be both a speciesspecific, modality-specific, and stimulus-property specific question.

Despite the significant influence that odor plays on the behavior of rats, stimuluscompounding studies have rarely utilized an odorant stimulus in that species as part of the stimulus compound. Still, some studies have established that at least intermodal summation can work with odorants. Cohn and Weiss (2007) created a stimulus compound by training rats to respond under the independent presentations of both a tone and an ambient odor. Their results demonstrated an additive summation effect, where response rates were higher under an odor + tone compound, compared to the individual odor and tone components. These results are consistent with other stimulus-compounding research using non-rodent subjects, including Delwiche and Heffelfinger (2005), who presented a taste and odor compound to human subjects, demonstrating additive summation effects on responding.

No studies to date have examined intramodal olfactory stimulus summation in rats, however some studies have used compound and component olfactory stimuli in ways that

indicate that olfactory stimulus mixing may be complex for the species. Yoder (2015) trained trial-based discrimination in rats between independent presentations of two odorants. Correct responses were reinforced for licking the odor delivery port that contained the Sd odor. When the odors were mixed at different ratios and presented to the subjects, the rat's latencies in the presence of the compound stimulus increased compared to the single odorant presentations. Near-even mix ratios such as 60/40 even resulted in complete removal of the nose from the olfactory port. These discrete trail results (higher reaction times and nonresponding) seem to foreshadow that mixed compound odor stimuli could even negatively summate under free operant conditions, perhaps because the stimulus mixture functions as a third odorant rather than a true compound. These results are consistent with studies using human verbal reports in which odorant mixtures were reported as being perceived as different odor compared to each odor individually (Batsell, 2005).

The Challenges of Stimulus Summation using Odorants

Several challenges related to the selection and use of olfactory stimuli may underlie the rarity of odorant-based summation research. First, odors are logistically challenging to work with, and difficult to present or remove in a short timescale. Ambient odors are made up of odorant particles housed in the air. The presence of these particles is dependent on the airflow in the air of the environment and the stickiness of the particles or how readily they cling to surfaces in the environment (Cohn & Weiss, 2007). This makes controlling the presence and absence of ambient odorant particles in a controlled environment difficult, as it requires the control of the airflow in the experimental environment. Odorants that are contained within another stimulus, such as a cup or sand pit, are easier for researchers to manipulate in the subject's environment, but the container they are held in creates additional stimuli that could unintendedly gain control

of the subject's responding (Brushfield et al., 2008: Devore et al., 2013). Nose poke ports also complicate experimental procedures by limiting the availability of the stimulus to a specific location or area in the operant chamber, often requiring an explicit response on the part of the animal to come into contact with the stimulus.

The use of odorant stimuli in compounding studies also requires the researcher to make judgements about what constitutes a "different" component odor stimulus, which can be complex (for reasons reviewed above). Odorant categorization and classification to date has been based on multiple factors, including chemical properties, human-reported similarity of perceived odorant qualities, and behavioral impact. These factors have often been found to contest one another, in the sense that two odors with different chemical compounds successfully trained as independent discriminative stimuli may not evoke a verbal report of having different qualities, and vice versa. The physical features of the odorants may also modulate odor discriminability; Yoder, et al. (2014) reported higher discrimination in rats between odorants with wider ranges of carbon atoms, than odorants with smaller ranges of carbon atoms. Complicating the issue, the rat's biological structures and the chemical structure of the odor stimulus may be less relevant to defining stimuli than the contingencies that rodents have encountered in relation to odorant stimuli, which can in turn alter biological responsiveness (Asahina, 2008; Auffarth, 2013; Shams, 2011; Wilson & Stevenson, 2003. Rats naturally detect variations of odorants in their environment, such as the presence or absence of many different categories of odor, for a wide variety of reasons, including navigation, socialization, identification, recognition of predators, food acquisition, and avoidance of aversive stimuli. Previous research has shown that rats will often use odors to track the passage of other rats and track their previous paths to navigate through a novel environment to find their way back to their home (Wallas et al., 2002). Studies

have also shown that rats will use odors as cues to identify and avoid other rats in their community that are sick (Arakawa et al., 2010). Rats will use scent marking to identify and select mating partners based on factors such as health and fertility (Bakker et al., 1996; Ferkin, 2018; Lydell, 1972). Rats will make food selection choices using scents from other littermate's saliva (Galef, 2002) and will avoid/escape both conditioned and unconditioned predators (Hubbard et al., 2004; Takahashi et al., 2005; Wallace & Rosen, 2000). Using such natural odor stimuli (or accidentally using similar stimuli) as "different" odors may carry the advantage of previous discrimination conditioning and salience but may also introduce confounds should these reinforcement histories interact with stimulus compounding pretraining procedures.

In short, a systematic expansion of our understanding of intramodal stimulus compounding using olfactory stimuli requires a researcher to consider and/or address both the logistical and the conceptual challenges of intramodal olfactory compounding procedures.

Current Study

This study aimed to determine whether rats would show summation or averaging to ambiently presented intramodal odor stimulus compounds. The subjects were trained to respond to individual component odors, and then tested with the presentation of an odorant mixture compound. Given the contradictory results from intramodality studies and the lack of published results on intra-modal odorant stimulus compounding, I wished to see if a mixed odor compound will produce either summation or averaging following independent training of responses under each individual odorant component. If a summative effect on responding is produced, this may indicate that most of the original component stimulus features, and the control over behavior they previously held, carried over in the presence of the compound stimulus. If an averaged effect on responding is produced, this may indicate that some of the original component stimulus

features were either lost or impacted by one another in the compound stimulus.

.

Establishing an initial empirical assessment of intermodal olfactory stimulus compounding in the rat first required the development of an odor-presenting apparatus that could present and remove odor stimuli on a similar time course compared to audiovisual summation studies. Also, similarly to audiovisual scenarios, the apparatus needed to present stimuli in a manner that is detectable from anywhere in the chamber instead of requiring a nosepoke or other restricted positioning. Once I created this apparatus, I validated it by showing that it could create and control olfactory discrimination for rat subjects. Next, I used the apparatus to establish an initial olfactory compounding data set.

METHODS

Apparatus Development

I created an operant chamber that could effectively function as an odorant delivery and removal system. The system was required to control the presentation and extraction of odorant particles in a way that was effective enough for reinforcement and extinction contingencies placed during the presence and absence of the odor to shape discrimination in the rat subject's response. The apparatus underwent many early design changes that are not described here. This development process resulted in the apparatus described below. My fellow researchers and I first tested the efficacy of the chamber using our own olfactory systems. I then subsequently validated the apparatus with two rat subjects to demonstrate the discriminability of the odorant presentation system and to guide further apparatus improvements.

Main Chamber

The apparatus was 21cm wide, 25sm long, and 21cm tall. The main part of the apparatus, where the subject was placed, was made of 1/8" red plexiglass, with red acrylic blockers placed along the bottom edges of the chamber from the front corners to the back corners. This prevented the air stream from being caught in the edges and corners of the chamber, instead directing air flow through the chamber and out through the back fan. At the front of the chamber (see Figure 1) there was a 60mm x 60mm x 25mm axial fan connected with dryer tubing to the vivarium's air filtration system, supplying 28 cubic feet per minute of filtered air into the chamber. Below the fan sat an input valve connected to a set of custom tubing, which allowed the input of either unscented or scented air into the chamber. Located directly to the left and right of the scented air input, there were two inputs for additional filtered air connected to 32W air pump, which supplied 60 liters of air per minute. Attached to the back of the chamber was a 8.94" by 6.3" by

10.9" fan capable of moving 185 cubic feet of air per minute. Overall, the chamber functioned as a horizontally oriented wind tunnel, maintaining a constant air flow through the subject's experimental environment.

Olfactory Delivery and Removal System

The presentation and discontinuation of the odor stimulus was controlled by a series of tubing and solenoids (Figure 2). Air from the main air pump was pushed through a main tube that separated into two secondary tubes and connected to two separate solenoid valves. Each solenoid valve could be turned on or off to control the flow of air, and only one was open at a time. Following each solenoid valve was a chamber filled with 100% cotton. One chamber functioned as an olfactory storage unit that dispensed the odorant, and the other was used as a control without odorant to maintain consistent air pressure across both conditions. The air on either side was then directed through one-way air valves, which prevent backflow and cross contamination of odorant particles, and then into a single tube that connected to the chamber.

Because the back fan was capable of moving 185 cubic feet of air per minute, the flow of the scented air was continually being removed from the chamber, meaning that once the olfactory solenoid was closed and the filtered air solenoid was opened, the odorant was quickly eliminated from the chamber. To test the time scale of air clearing in the apparatus, we used a fog machine. After filling the chamber with fogged air, we recorded the time that it took for all visible fog to clear. We placed paper with a set of sharpie marks on the far end of the chamber while performing this test so that we could use the contrast and resolution of the lines to better discriminate the moment of complete clearing. We measured the air clearing time as 5s.

In order to minimize any lingering odorant particles on the inside the scented air input valve or on other areas of the chamber, we thoroughly cleaned the scented air input valve,

olfactory device tubing between sessions with a 3% hydrogen peroxide solution designed to disinfect animal cages, and then with a 70% ethanol solution.

My fellow researchers and I successfully detected the presentation and removal of the odorant stimulus immediately after the programmed stimulus change while sniffing near the rat's planned position in the chamber. As a result, no temporal delay of contingency schedules was programed to correct for lingering odorants.

Apparatus Validation

During apparatus development, researchers first assessed the detectability, intensity, and fluctuations of the odorant stimulus by sniffing near the area that rats would eventually occupy. This approach was used to test certain variables of the apparatus, such as types of fan motors, air pumps, solenoids, odorant delivery methods, material types, and more. Researchers then tested the final effect by routinely sampling the air exiting from the back fan of the chamber, and pressing an external lever when they detected the presentation or removal of the odorant. During these tests, the researcher pressing the lever did not know when the odor would be on or off. Figures 3, 4, and 5, display the results of these tests, conducted before beginning apparatus validation with animal subjects.

Apparatus Validation Subjects

Two, experimentally naïve, female Long-Evans rats from the same litter were recruited to validate the apparatus, to test for discrimination. Both subjects were housed together when not in use, in a 19" (45.7cm) by 9" (22.9cm) by 8" (20.3cm) home cage kept in an air filtered animal housing system. The vivarium lighting was set to a 12-hour reverse light schedule, where the house lights remained off from 9am-9pm, and on from 9pm-9am. The vivarium contained a pressurized air filtration system, which would exchange 100% of the room's volume of air 12

times per hour. Subjects had free access to food and water before, between, and after all experimental sessions. Subjects were kept at 100% of their free feeding weight throughout the experiment. The study was approved by the University of North Texas' Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) prior to any experimental sessions.

Experimental Subjects

Two female Long-Evans rats from the same litter were recruited for the experimental compounding study from a previous behavioral study, that included handling and clicker training. Neither subject had ever pressed a lever. Both subjects were one year and four months old when initially introduced to the operant chamber for the acclimation phase. Both subjects were housed together when not in use, in a 19" (45.7cm) by 9" (22.9cm) by 8" (20.3cm) home cage kept in an air filtered animal housing system. Housing, light cycle, and other variables for these rats were identical to those of subjects 2 & 3.

Acclimation: All Subjects

All Subjects were given time prior to training to acclimate to the chamber with the purpose of decreasing exploration and habituating to novel (and potentially aversive) air current stimulation enough for training to begin.

During the first phase of acclimation, each subject was placed individually into the main chamber of the apparatus. All fans, air pumps, and solenoids were off, so no additional noise or wind was generated by the apparatus. Sweetened condensed milk was smeared on the left wall of the apparatus, where the feeder attaches to the chamber. Each rat was left in the chamber for 10 to 30 minutes at a time, alternating between subjects.

Once rats' exploration and escape responses decreased to a level where they were engaging with the sweetened condensed milk more than they were engaging in exploration

responses, they were moved on to the second phase of acclimation.

During the second phase of the acclimation, each subject was placed individually into the main chamber of the apparatus, with all fans and air pumps turned on to their lowest settings. This placed the rats into a chamber with a moderate level of noise and a moderate amount of wind. Sweetened condensed milk was freely available non-contingently, through the feeder port. Each rat was left in the chamber for 10 to 30 minutes at a time, alternating between subjects. Once subjects no longer showed high rates of exploration or nervous body language and were showing increased interaction with the sweetened condensed milk, they were moved to the third phase of acclimation.

During the third phase of the acclimation, each subject was placed individually into the main chamber of the apparatus, with all fans and air pumps turned on to their highest settings. This placed the rats into a chamber with a high a level of noise and wind. Sweetened condensed milk was freely available non-contingently, through the feeder port. Each rat was left in the chamber for 10 to 30 minutes at a time, alternating between subjects. Once subjects engaged in few to no exploration responses, the acclimation phase was considered complete.

Magazine Training

Magazine training for validation subjects occurred in their respective Sd conditions (subject 2 odor on, subject 3 odor off). Experimental subjects had magazine training under noodor conditions. The presentation of a 100 millisecond 440 hertz tone was followed by the delivery of 1-2 drops of sweetened condensed milk from the feeder located on the side of the chamber. Once animals were responding reliably to the tone by orienting to the feeder, they were moved on to lever press training.

Lever/Response Training

Rats were then trained to press the lever for reinforcement. All subjects were shaped by hand, using differential reinforcement of successive approximations of the final response. The reinforcement system consisted of a lever housed at the front of the chamber. Pressing the lever was immediately followed by the activation of tone and reinforcer delivery. The feeder was located far enough away that the subjects were forced to completely let go of the lever in order to contact the reinforcement. The final response consisted of orienting head and/or body towards feeder immediately following the presentation of the conditioned stimulus, approaching the feeder, and consuming the sweetened condensed milk within two seconds of presentation. This method of reinforcer delivery was used for the remainder of the training and experiment.

Validation Subjects

The lever training procedure used for both validation subjects was conducted under their Sd odor conditions (the same as in magazine training); subject 2 was trained in the presence of the odor (lemon oil) and subject 3 in the absence of the odor.

Experimental Subjects

All lever training for experimental subjects was conducted in the presence of either rosemary oil, or orange oil in separate sessions. These odorants were selected based on previous literature demonstrating their safety when presented overextend periods of time to rat and mouse subjects (Anadón et al., 2008; Ceccarelli et al., 2004; Dosoky & Setzer, 2018; Horváthová et al., 2010; Leite et al., 2008). Lever training sessions for experimental subjects lasted from 20-90 seconds. This length of time was chosen based on previous habituation literature, showing that habitation of neurons began at 50 seconds (Wilson, 1998). The decision was also based on our previous testing and validation, which showed breakdown of human discrimination behavior

(when experimenters tried to discriminate odor by positioning the face just above the chamber) and less than ideal performance in validation rats when longer periods were used. Lever presses in the presence of the odor were followed immediately by the presentation of a 100-millisecond long presentation of a 440 hertz tone, and the delivery of 1-2 drops of sweetened condensed milk from the feeder. This phase did not have any time period in which odor was not present.

Lever pressing was hand shaped on an FR1 schedule, by manually reinforcing successive approximations of the response cycle: presses the lever, orients to feeder following the conditioned stimulus, consumes the delivered reinforcer, and orients back to the lever to continue pressing. The experimenter reinforced approximations by manipulating the lever from outside the chamber until the subjects were responding independently and sufficiently to close the switch. Both subjects were trained on an FR1 reinforcement schedule, which continued until they were pressing at a minimum rate of 8 presses per minute.

Odor Discrimination Training

Validation Subjects

Validation subjects were taught to discriminate between the presence and absence of lemon essential oil. The presence of the lemon odor was conditioned as an Sd for subject 2, and as an S Δ for subject 3. Discrimination training alternated between the presence and absence of odor until the validation phase of training was completed. Both subjects received training on the same scent, at the same time, and were switched to the second scent synchronously. Subjects were trained using a two-ply schedule, including an FR1 reinforcement schedule during the presence of odor, and extinction of reinforcement in the absence of odor. Initial discrimination training began with odor on (FR1) and odor off (extinction) conditions lasting 30-45 seconds, with trial lengths lasting approximately 3 minutes. When this procedure produced poor

discrimination performance, both subjects were switched to more discrete, extended odor on, odor off, AB conditions, consisting of a 30-60 second presentation of the odorant S^D , followed by an extended S Δ odor off condition, which lasted until the subject decreased responding. The lengths of these AB conditions gradually increased to their final length of 3-5 minutes. Reinforcement using this training procedure began on an FR1 reinforcement schedule and was gradually increased to a VI 5-minute schedule. Once discrimination was established, the validation was complete, and validation subjects did not undergo any further procedures.

Experimental Subjects

Discrimination training for experimental subjects was modified based on what I had learned from the results of validation training. Initial discrimination training sessions consisted of a single sequence of odor on and odor off, and early in training we added an initial odor-off condition to the sequence so that a single session consisted of odor off, odor on, and another odor off condition. The first phase was implemented later in training (once I realized that this order was better) and consisted of a few seconds of time in which the air stream had neither odor present. The odor was then turned on contingent on the rat performing alternative behavior (not lever pressing) for at least 2-3 seconds. Odor was then presented for 20-90 seconds during which lever presses were reinforced on an FR1 schedule. This was followed by the removal of the scent, which was replaced once again by filtered air, and any lever presses were placed on extinction. This extinction condition lasted until the rate of lever presses had extinguished for a minimum of five seconds, and the session was terminated. During the training process, experimenters realized that training would progress best if non-lever behaviors were explicitly trained in the absence of the odor, and so this contingency was added to the odor-off sections of the session. Criterion for the non-lever pressing response started as any non-lever pressing

response during the odor off condition. These responses were manually reinforced by the researcher using a button outside of the chamber that controlled the primary reinforcement system, activating the 440 hertz tone, and delivering 1-2 drops of sweetened condensed milk. The response captured in both rats was a head-bobbing behavior (moving the head back and forth from left to right), and subsequently only this alternative behavior was reinforced during odor-off conditions. Head bobbing was reinforced during odor-off at a ratio as similar as possible to the operative odor-on ratio for the session. As the subject's discrimination improved, additional odor and non-odor phases were added to the training sessions, resulting in a repeating ABAB design lasting from 3-5 minutes. Despite the availability of reinforcement for head-bobbing during odor-off conditions, rats encountered many non-reinforced trails of lever pressing during the training process (i.e., they both encountered at least some extinction trials in odor-off).

Once the subjects reached at least a 0.8 discrimination index, the reinforcement schedule gradually increased. For Subject 6 it was increased from FR1, to an FR5 schedule, and then switched to a VI5 second schedule in both orange and rosemary conditions. For subject 6, the final discrimination index in rosemary oil was 0.83, and the final discrimination index in orange oil was 0.9. For Subject 5 the 0.8 discrimination index requirement was not met due to time constraints in the laboratory. Therefore, rosemary oil was trained to a VR3 with a 0.9 discrimination index, and orange oil was trained to a VI5 second schedule with a 0.7 discrimination index.

Additive Summation Testing

After discrimination training was complete, I tested both subjects to see if the rate of lever pressing in the presence of a rosemary-orange compound stimulus would be higher, lower,

or intermediate compared to the rate of lever pressing in the presence of each individual odor. During this phase, subjects experienced alternating periods of rosemary oil, orange oil, or the rosemary-orange compound oil. The compound stimulus was made using equal proportions of both rosemary and orange oil in a 50/50 ratio. One large batch of the compound mixture was made prior to testing, and was the only mixture used for the entirety of the experiment. Sessions lasted 3-5 mins each and occurred in trial blocks in a faux randomized order. Trial blocks consisted of one presentation each of orange, rosemary, and the compound odorant. I counterbalanced trial blocks by implementing them in every possible order combination. Time was given between sessions of different odors to allow the vivarium to clear of any detectable scent, ranging from 15 to several hours.

The first ten trial blocks were conducted under a VI5 second reinforcement schedule for all three condition types. Next, nine trial blocks were conducted under complete extinction, meaning no reinforcement was provided for any lever pressing under any of the three conditions. Because rates of lever pressing had diminished to near zero during the nine extinction conditions, three re-training sessions were then conducted for rosemary and orange oil separately for three sessions, until responding had returned to pre-testing levels. The reinforcement schedules for subject 5's retraining during the orange conditions were 0.08 per second, 0.06 per second, and 0.07 per second, respectively. The reinforcement delivery schedules for subject 5's retraining during the rosemary conditions were 0.1 per second, 0.02 per second, and 0.06 per second, respectively. The reinforcement schedules for subject 6's retraining during the orange conditions were 0.07 per second, 0.05 per second, and 0.06 per second, respectively. The reinforcement schedules for subject 6's retraining during the orange conditions were 0.1 per second, respectively. The reinforcement schedules for subject 6's retraining during the orange conditions were 0.07 per second, 0.05 per second, and 0.06 per second, respectively. The reinforcement delivery schedules for subject 6's retraining during the orange conditions were 0.1 per second, respectively. The reinforcement schedules for subject 6's retraining during the orange conditions were 0.1 per second, respectively. The reinforcement

0.07 per second, and 0.05 per second, respectively. Next, an additional ten testing blocks were conducted under a variable interval ten second schedule, for all three condition types.

RESULTS

Validation Results

Overall, both validation subjects achieved discrimination between the presence and absence of the lemon odor, however they did not achieve 100% discrimination. Subject 2's final discrimination index was 0.94, with a discrimination ratio of 1:31. Subject 3's final discrimination index was 0.91, with a discrimination ratio of 1:22. Cumulative records of final discrimination performances are visualized in Figures 6 and 7.

Stimulus Compounding Study Subject 5 Results

Subject 5 Overall Results

Overall, subject 5's results, under a variable interval 5 second reinforcement schedule, show an averaged response rate under the presence of the compound stimulus was less than the orange stimulus, and greater than the rosemary stimulus, or in-between her average rates of responding to either component stimuli. This is consistent with Weiss' definition of averaging.

Under the extinction schedule, subject 5's average response rate under the presence of the compound stimulus was greater than the orange stimulus, and less than the rosemary stimulus, or in-between the average rates of responding to either component stimulus. This is consistent with Weiss' definition of averaging.

Under the variable interval 10 second reinforcement schedule, subject 5's average rate of responding under the presence of the compound stimulus was less than the orange stimulus, and slightly higher than the rosemary stimulus, or in-between her average rates of responding to either component stimulus. This is consistent with Weiss' definition of averaging.

Subject 5 VI5 Second Schedule of Reinforcement

Figure 8 shows subject 5's rates of responding during all testing sessions, and figure 9

shows subject 5's cumulative rates of responding per condition for the first trial block, using the VI5 schedule. Subject 5's lever pressing during the rosemary condition maintained a downward trend from the initial session to the final session at a slope of -0.0176 (R²= 0.1747). The rates of responding in the first and last sessions were 0.21, and 0.18 presses per second, respectively. Lever pressing during the orange condition maintained an upward trend from the initial session to the final session at a slope of 0.005 (R²= 0.012). The rates of responding in the first and last sessions were 0.21, and 0.18 presses per second, respectively. Lever pressing during the orange condition maintained an upward trend from the initial session to the final session at a slope of 0.005 (R²= 0.012). The rates of responding in the first and last sessions were 0.45, and 0.33 presses per second respectively. Lever pressing during the compound condition maintained an upwards trend from the initial session to the final session at a slope of 0.017 (R²= 0.186). The rates of responding in the first and last sessions were 0.3, and 0.51 presses per second respectively.

Figure 10 shows subject 5's overall mean response rates per condition, and distribution of responding per session. During the orange condition, subject 5's mean rate of responding was 0.41 lever presses per second. During the rosemary condition, subject 5's mean rate of responding was 0.35 lever presses per second. During the compound condition, Subject 5's mean rate of responding was 0.37 lever presses per second. This demonstrates that subject 5's mean rate of responding during the compound condition, when compared to its mean rate of responding during the compound conditions between rosemary and orange component conditioning.

Subject 5 Extinction

Figure 11 shows subject 5's rates of responding during all testing sessions, and figure 12 shows subject 5's cumulative rates of responding per condition for the first trial block, using the extinction schedule. Subject 5's lever pressing during the rosemary condition maintained a downward trend from the initial session to the final session at a slope of -0.0165 (R^2 = 0.32). The

rates of responding in the first and last sessions were 0.33, and 0.09 presses per second, respectively. Lever pressing during the orange condition maintained a downwards trend from the initial session to the final session at a slope of -0.0049 (R²= 0.1393). The rates of responding in the first and last sessions were 0.10, and 0.04 presses per second respectively. Lever pressing during the compound condition maintained a downwards trend from the initial session to the final session at a slope of -0.0282 (R²= 0.36). The rates of responding in the first and last sessions were 0.43, and 0.12 presses per second respectively.

Figure 13 shows subject 5's overall mean response rates per condition, and distribution of responding per session.. During the orange condition, subject 5's mean rate of responding was 0.09 lever presses per second. During the rosemary condition, subject 5's mean rate of responding was 0.14 lever presses per second. During the compound condition, Subject 5's mean rate of rate of responding was 0.11 lever presses per second.

Subject 5 Re-Training

Figure 14 shows subject 5's rate of responding during all re-training sessions. Subject 5's lever pressing during the rosemary condition maintained an upwards trend from the initial session to the final session at a slope of 0.1511 (R²= 0.93). The rates of responding in the first and last sessions were 0.04, and 0.61 presses per second, respectively. Lever pressing during the orange condition maintained an upwards trend from the initial session to the final session at a slope of 0.2882 (R²= 0.99). The rates of responding in the first and last sessions were 0.11, and 0.42 presses per second respectively.

Figure 15 shows subject 5's mean rate and distribution of responding per condition. During the rosemary condition, subject 5's mean rate of responding was 0.32 lever presses per

second. During the orange condition, subject 5's mean rate of responding was 0.29 lever presses per second.

Subject 5 VI10 Second Reinforcement Schedule

Figure 16 shows subject 5's rates of responding during all testing sessions, and figure 17 shows subject 5's cumulative rates of responding per condition for the first trial block, using the extinction schedule. Subject 5's lever pressing during the rosemary condition maintained a downward trend from the initial session to the final session at a slope of -0.0154 (R^2 = 0.27). The rates of responding in the first and last sessions were 0.25, and 0.12 presses per second, respectively. Lever pressing during the orange condition maintained a downwards trend from the initial session at a slope of -0.0194 (R^2 = 0.29). The rates of responding in the first and 0.24 presses per second respectively. Lever pressing during the compound condition maintained a downwards trend from the initial session at a slope of -0.0135 (R^2 = 0.15). The rates of responding in the first and last sessions were 0.29, and 0.11 presses per second respectively.

Figure 18 shows subject 5's overall mean response rates per condition, and distribution of responding per session. During the rosemary condition, subject 5's mean rate of responding was 0.17 lever presses per second. During the orange condition, subject 5's mean rate of responding was 0.21 lever presses per second. During the compound condition, Subject 5's mean rate of responding was 0.18 lever presses per second.

Stimulus Compounding Study Subject 6 Results

Subject 6 Overall Results

Overall, subject 6's results, under a variable interval 5 second reinforcement schedule, show that her average response rate under the presence of the compound stimulus was greater

than the orange stimulus, and less than the rosemary stimulus, or in-between her average rates of responding to either component stimulus. This is consistent with Weiss' definition of averaging.

Under the extinction schedule, subject 6's average response rate under the presence of the compound stimulus was greater than the orange stimulus, and less than the rosemary stimulus, or in-between her average rates of responding to either component stimulus. This is consistent with Weiss' definition of averaging.

Under the variable interval 10 second reinforcement schedule, subject 6's average rate of responding under the presence of the compound stimulus was slightly greater than her average rates of responding to either component stimulus. This is consistent with Weiss' definition of additive summation.

Subject 6 VI5 Second Reinforcement Schedule

Figure 19 shows subject 6's rates of responding during all testing sessions, and figure 20 shows subject 6's cumulative rates of responding per condition for the first trial block, using the VI5 schedule. Subject 6's lever pressing during the rosemary condition maintained a downward trend from the initial session to the final session at a slope of -0.0344 (R²= 0.69). The rates of responding in the first and last sessions were 0.58, and 0.28 presses per second, respectively. Lever pressing during the orange condition maintained aa downward trend from the initial session at a slope of -0.008 (R²= 0.57). The rates of responding in the first and 0.23 presses per second respectively. Lever pressing during the compound condition maintained a downward trend from the initial session at a slope of -0.0261 (R²= 0.0.498). The rates of responding in the first and last sessions were 0.47, and 0.24 presses per second respectively.

Figure 21 shows subject 6's overall mean response rates per condition, and distribution of

responding per session. During the rosemary condition, subject 5's mean rate of responding was 0.41 lever presses per second. During the orange condition, subject 5's mean rate of responding was 0.33 lever presses per second. During the compound condition, Subject 6's mean rate of responding was 0.35 lever presses per second. This demonstrates that subject 5's mean rate of responding during the compound condition, when compared to its mean rate of responding during the component conditions between rosemary and orange component conditioning.

Subject 6 Extinction

Figure 22 shows subject 6's rates of responding during all testing sessions, and figure 23 shows subject 6's cumulative rates of responding per condition for the first trial block, using the extinction schedule. Subject 6's lever pressing during the rosemary condition maintained a downward trend from the initial session to the final session at a slope of -0.0438 (R²= 0.44). The rates of responding in the first and last sessions were 0.58, and 0.07 presses per second, respectively. Lever pressing during the orange condition maintained aa downward trend from the initial session at a slope of -0.0158 (R²= 0.43). The rates of responding in the first and last sessions at a slope of responding in the first and last session at a slope of -0.0158 (R²= 0.43). The rates of responding in the first and 0.01 presses per second respectively. Lever pressing during the compound condition maintained a downward trend from the initial session to the final session at a slope of -0.0202 (R²= 0.39). The rates of responding in the first and last sessions were 0.29, and 0.01 presses per second respectively.

Figure 24 shows subject 6's overall mean response rates per condition, and distribution of responding per session. During the rosemary condition, subject 5's mean rate of responding was 0.12 lever presses per second. During the orange condition, subject 5's mean rate of responding was 0.07 lever presses per second. During the compound condition, Subject 6's mean rate of responding was 0.08 lever presses per second.

Subject 6 Re-Training

Figure 25 show subject 6's rates of responding during all re-training sessions. Subject 6's lever pressing during the rosemary condition maintained an upwards trend from the initial session to the final session at a slope of 0.0393 (R^2 = 0.97). The rates of responding in the first and last sessions were 0.21, and 0.29 presses per second, respectively. Lever pressing during the orange condition maintained an upwards trend from the initial session to the final session at a slope of 0.1597 (R^2 = 0.84). The rates of responding in the first and last sessions were 0.16, and 0.48 presses per second respectively.

Figure 26 shows subject 6's mean rates and distribution of responding per condition. During the rosemary condition, subject 5's mean rate of responding was 0.25 lever presses per second. During the orange condition, subject 5's mean rate of responding was 0.28 lever presses per second.

Subject 6 VI10 Second Reinforcement Schedule

Figure 27 shows subject 6's rates of responding during all testing sessions, and figure 28 shows subject 6's cumulative rates of responding per condition for the first trial block, using the VI10 schedule. Subject 6's lever pressing during the rosemary condition maintained a downward trend from the initial session to the final session at a slope of -0.0076 (R²= 0.2669). The rates of responding in the first and last sessions were 0.22, and 0.18 presses per second, respectively. Lever pressing during the orange condition maintained as downward trend from the initial session at a slope of -0.0258 (R²= 0.7). The rates of responding in the first and 0.09 presses per second respectively. Lever pressing during the compound condition maintained a downward trend from the initial session at a slope of -0.0072 (R²= 0.05). The rates of responding in the first and last session at a downward trend from the initial session at a slope of -0.0072 (R²= 0.05). The rates of responding in the first and last sessions were 0.22, and 0.11 presses per second respectively.

Figure 29 shows subject 6's overall mean response rates per condition, and distribution of responding per session. During the rosemary condition, subject 5's mean rate of responding was 0.20 lever presses per second. During the orange condition, subject 5's mean rate of responding was 0.15 lever presses per second. During the compound condition, Subject 6's mean rate of responding was 0.22 lever presses per second.

DISCUSSION

Validation

Both pilot subjects achieved high levels of discrimination between the presence and absence of the odor stimulus. However, both pilots engaged in brief, low levels of lever pressing during their respective S Δ conditions. This resurgence of pressing could be due to the influence of the training procedure initially used to teach discrimination. This procedure utilized rapidly reversing, odor on - odor off conditions. Due to the short period of some trial conditions, there were instances where the condition ended before the subject contacted its contingency, or the subject would lever press immediately preceding the condition change, resulting in potential reinforcement delivery occurring under the wrong stimulus condition. This previous learning history may have produced the resurgence of lever pressing under the S Δ condition while subjects were deprived of reinforcement.

In addition to the potential effects of the initial training procedures, there is also a possibility that the resurgence of lever pressing during the S Δ condition is due to habituation; olfactory sensory habitation occurs partly on a biological level (Wilson, 1998) and may make continual, unchanging olfactory stimuli less effective in longer durations. In case this may have been happening, subsequent subjects experienced short conditions during training and testing. Apart from these considerations, the apparatus functioned to produce discrimination at high levels.

Stimulus Compounding Study

This study aimed to see how the behavior-altering effects of individual odorant component stimuli would merge when presented as a mixed compound and how their presence in that compound would impact responding. The results demonstrate that the rate of responding

under the compound stimulus was similar to or intermediate between the rates of responding under the independent component stimulus. This overall result fits with Weiss' (1972) definition of averaging. While there are many previously demonstrated factors that contribute to the failure of summation and the production of averaging in stimulus compound studies, not all of them are applicable to the current results. This study's results cannot be explained by the use of classical conditioning, non-comparable response rates held by component stimuli, or the omission of a discrimination paradigm. The use of classical conditioning does not apply to the current study, as I used reinforcement contingencies to train responses. The impact of non-comparable response rates is unlikely to apply, as the response rates of both subjects were close across conditions. I did implement a discrimination paradigm, though my odor-off condition included reinforcement of a second response. Using an extinction schedule in a discrimination paradigm reliably produces higher summation levels compared to using a DRO schedule (similar to the one I used). However, the success of previous experiments in producing summation even under DRO contingencies demonstrates that, on its own, the reinforcement of another behavior during s-delta conditions should not cause a total failure of summation. Still, this factor could have combined with other factors to produce a cumulative effect. It is possible that the combination of factors played some part in the production of averaging in the current results.

It is possible that the odor-off condition used in discrimination was not entirely absent of the odor stimulus. It is possible that due to the advanced olfactory senses of the subjects, there were detectable amounts of the odorant left in the chamber during the "odor off" conditions. If the odor-off condition contained a detectable level of the odor stimulus, the remaining low-level odor could have been re-conditioned to control nonresponding under the extinction schedule. Not only would this mean that the behavioral control of odor could be unreliable or complex, but it

would impose a lack of a totally stimulus-absent condition, which has been shown to contribute to lower levels of summation. As Weiss (1972) has demonstrated, when a component stimulus is conditioned independently, the absence of the other component may gain control over responding. In this case, if the odor was present at varied intensities across all discrimination conditions, the absence of that odor would never have been re-conditioned to hold control over non-responding. Therefore, when the odor compound was presented without the absence of a particular odor, that previously conditioned stimulus feature would no longer have been included in the compound.

One implication from previous research is that the lack of spatial separation between the component stimuli that comprise an odorant compound may have had a significant impact on the behavioral control held by the stimulus features. Responses may occur more reliably when learned under spatially separated compounds, compared to mixed compounds. While spatially separated compounds have produced summation in some studies, there have been conflicting results from other experiments (Aydan & Pearce, 1995, 1997; McDevitt & Fantino, 1996; Miller, 1971; Hamm & Meltzer, 1973, 1977; Wiltz, et al., 1973; Van Wijk, & Sabelis, 2010). This study constructed the compound by mixing equal parts of each component odorant together. Some aspects of this approach may have caused the compound to gain a unique stimulus feature, that is novel compared to the component features. Investigating this possibility will require a systematic replication of the current study using spatially separated olfactory stimuli.

Another possible reason why averaging may have occurred instead of additive summation is that the compound odor may have produced a "homogenous precept", which is when different odors synthesize to make a new odor quality, instead of a "heterogenous percept", which is when the mixture implies that the quality of each odor component can be perceived in

the mixture (Berglund 1972, 1976). This can also mean that the stimulus features of the compound stimulus functioned as a novel stimulus when presented to the subjects. If these stimulus features were completely novel however, I would have expected the subjects' response rates under the compound to negatively summate to a lower level than in either of the component stimuli. My results indicate that the behavioral control held by the component stimulus' features maintained some control over the response, resulting in an averaged response rate.

Lack of summation could also be due to the compound odorant being delivered in the form of a mixture of both individual odorant solutions. Some previous studies, such as Hopfield and Gelperin (1998), have produced results which indicate that when odors are presented as a mixture, rather than a simultaneous presentation of two odors, they either lose the behavior altering features that were previously conditioned to the component stimuli, and/or gain a unique new feature which has not yet gained control over responding. Even without spatial separation, two odors presented from separate openings may have mixed less as the rat encountered them, which could potentially make a difference for such an odorant-sensitive species. This is difficult to test because it involves internal events/perception of odor stimulus key features. A possible way to explore this possibility is to examine the brain components of the response, or to conduct an experiment like Yoder (2015), where the rate of responding is compared to changes in the ratio of component odors present in the compound odor.

The production of averaging could also be related to the shaping methods used to teach discrimination between the presence and absence of each component stimulus. As previously proposed by Davidson and Nevin (1999) and demonstrated by Davidson and Rosales-Ruiz (2022), training a four contingency discrimination paradigm creates more error-free responding to the presence and absence of conditioned stimuli. Due to the use of a two-contingency

paradigm, there may be a lack of total stimulus control held by the component stimuli, therefore resulting in a lack of summation.

In summary, the current study constitutes the first empirical foray into intramodal stimulus compounding in rats. Two replications indicate that olfactory stimuli presented in the mixed fashion described herein produce averaging rather than positive or negative summation. Future studies should expand these results to test the various features of stimulus content, presentation, or conditioning procedures to explore whether such averaging holds over varied conditions.

Figure 1

Front Panel of Apparatus Main Chamber



Olfactory Delivery System





Apparatus Development: Results of Experimenter Test 1



Apparatus Development: Results of Experimenter Test 2





Apparatus Development: Results of Experimenter Test 3



Subject 2 Final Cumulative Record





Subject 3 Final Cumulative Record



Subject 5 Rate per VI5 Test Session





Subject 5 Cumulative Rates of First VI5 Test Block



Subject 5 Response Distribution of VI5 Test Rates





Subject 5 Rate per Extinction Test Session



Subject 5 Cumulative Rates of First Extinction Test Block





Subject 5 Response Distribution of Extinction Test Rates



Subject 5 Rate per Re-Training Session





Subject 5 Response Distribution of Re-Training Sessions



Subject 5 Rate per VI10 Test Session





Subject 5 Cumulative Rates of First VI10 Test Block



Subject 5 Response Distribution of VI10 Test Rates





Subject 6 Rate per VI5 Test Session



Subject 6 Cumulative Rates of First VI5 Test Block





Subject 6 Response Distribution of VI5 Test Rates



Subject 6 Rate per Extinction Test Session



Subject 6 Cumulative Rates of First Extinction Test Block



Subject 6 Response Distribution of Extinction Test Rates





Subject 6 Rate per Re-Training Session



Subject 6 Response Distribution of Re-Testing Sessions





Subject 6 Rate per VI10 Test Session



Subject 6 Cumulative Rates of First VI10 Test Block





Subject 6 Response Distribution of VI10 Test Rates



REFERENCES

- Ache, B. W., & Young, J. M. (2005). Olfaction: Diverse species, conserved principles. *Neuron*, 48(3), 417–430. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2005.10.022
- Anadón, A., Martínez-Larrañaga, M. R., Martínez, M. A., Ares, I., García-Risco, M. R., Señoráns, F. J., & Reglero, G. (2008). Acute oral safety study of rosemary extracts in rats. *Journal of Food Protection*, 71(4), 790–795. https://doi.org/10.4315/0362-028x-71.4.790
- Arakawa, H., Arakawa, K., & Deak, T. (2010). Sickness-related odor communication signals as determinants of social behavior in rat: A role for inflammatory processes. *Hormones and Behavior*, 57(3), 330–341. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2010.01.002
- Asahina, K., Pavlenkovich, V., & Vosshall, L. B. (2008). The survival advantage of olfaction in a competitive environment. *Current Biology*, *18*(15), 1153–1155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2008.06.075
- Auffarth, B. (2013). Understanding smell—the olfactory stimulus problem. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, *37*(8), 1667–1679. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.06.009
- Aydin, A., & Pearce, J. M. (1994). Prototype effects in categorization by pigeons. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Animal Behavior Processes, 20(3), 264–277. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0097-7403.20.3.264</u>
- Aydan Aydin & John M. Pearce (1995) Summation in Autoshaping with Short- and Longduration Stimuli, The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology Section B, 48:3, 215-234, DOI: 10.1080/14640749508401449
- Aydin, A., & Pearce, J. M. (1997). Some determinants of response summation. *Animal Learning & Behavior*, 25(1), 108–121. https://doi.org/10.3758/bf03199029
- Bakker, J., van Ophemert, J., & Koos Slob, A. (1996). Sexual differentiation of odor and partner preference in the rat. *Physiology & Behavior*, 60(2), 489–494. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0031-9384(96)80023-0
- Batsell, R. W. (2005). Olfaction: Recent Advances in Learning about Odors. In *Handbook of Research Methods in Experimental Psychology* (pp. 299–322). essay, Blackwell.
- Brushfield, A. M., Luu, T. T., Callahan, B. D., & Gilbert, P. E. (2008). A comparison of discrimination and reversal learning for olfactory and visual stimuli in aged rats. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 122(1), 54–62. https://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044.122.1.54
- Cavarretta, F., & Linster, C. (2022). Olfaction: Overview. In 1960- D. Jaeger (Ed.), Encyclopedia of computational neuroscience (pp. 91–94). essay, SPRINGER.

- Ceccarelli, I., Lariviere, W. R., Fiorenzani, P., Sacerdote, P., & Aloisi, A. M. (2004). Effects of long-term exposure of lemon essential oil odor on behavioral, hormonal and neuronal parameters in male and female rats. *Brain Research*, 1001(1-2), 78–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2003.10.063
- Cohn, S. I., & Weiss, S. J. (2007). Stimulus control and compounding with ambient odor as a discriminative stimulus on a free-operant baseline. *Journal of the Experimental Analysis of Behavior*, 87(2), 261–273. https://doi.org/10.1901/jeab.2007.35-06
- Davison, M., & Nevin, J. A. (1999). Stimuli, reinforcers, and behavior: An integration. Journal of the Experimen-tal Analysis of Behavior, 71(3), 439 482.https://doi.org/10.1901/jeab.1999.71-439
- Davidson, M. A., & Rosales-Ruiz, J. (2022). Reducing the occurrence of mouthing and jumping in a dog through conditional discrimination training. *Journal of the Experimental Analysis of Behavior*, 118(2), 250–260. https://doi.org/10.1002/jeab.787
- Delwiche, J. E. A. N. N. I. N. E. F., & Heffelfinger, A. M. A. N. D. A. L. (2005). Cross-modal additivity of taste and Smell. *Journal of Sensory Studies*, 20(6), 512–525. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-459x.2005.00047.x
- Derby, C. D., Hutson, M., Livermore, B. A., & Lynn, W. H. (1996). Generalization among related complex odorant mixtures and their components: analysis of olfactory perception in the spiny lobster. *Physiology & Behavior*, 60(1), 87-95
- Derby, C. D. (2000). Learning from spiny lobsters about chemosensory coding of mixtures. *Physiology & Behavior*, 69(1-2), 203–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0031-9384(00)00202-x
- Devore, S., Lee, J., & Linster, C. (2013). Odor preferences shape discrimination learning in rats. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *127*(4), 498–504. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0033329
- Devore, S., Lee, J., & Linster, C. (2013). Odor preferences shape discrimination learning in rats. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, *127*(4), 498–504. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0033329
- Dosoky, N., & Setzer, W. (2018). Biological activities and safety of citrus spp.. essential oils. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 19(7), 1966. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms19071966
- Ellis, S. L. H., & Wells, D. L. (2010). The influence of olfactory stimulation on the behaviour of cats housed in a rescue shelter. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 123(1-2), 56–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2009.12.011
- Fantino, E., & Savastano, H. I. (1996). Humans' responses to novel stimulus compounds and the effects of training. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review*, 3(2), 204–207. https://doi.org/10.3758/bf03212419

- Ferkin, M. (2018). Odor communication and mate choice in rodents. *Biology*, 7(1), 13. https://doi.org/10.3390/biology7010013
- Frederick, D. E., Barlas, L., Ievins, A., & Kay, L. M. (2009). A critical test of the overlap hypothesis for odor mixture perception. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 123(2), 430–437. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014729
- Galef, B. G. (2002). Social influences on food choices of Norway rats and mate choices of Japanese quail. *Appetite*, *39*(2), 179–180. https://doi.org/10.1006/appe.2001.0494
- Grasso, F. W., & Basil, J. A. (2002). How lobsters, crayfishes, and crabs locate sources of odor: Current perspectives and Future Directions. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 12(6), 721–727. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0959-4388(02)00388-4
- Hepper, P. G., & Wells, D. L. (2005). How many footsteps do dogs need to determine the direction of an odour trail? *Chemical Senses*, 30(4), 291–298. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bji023
- Hopfield, J. F., & Gelperin, A. (1989). Differential conditioning to a compound stimulus and its components in the terrestrial mollusc Limax Maximus.. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 103(2), 329–333. https://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044.103.2.329
- Horváthová, E., Slameňová, D., & Navarová, J. (2010). Administration of Rosemary Essential Oil enhances resistance of rat hepatocytes against DNA-damaging oxidative agents. *Food Chemistry*, 123(1), 151–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2010.04.022
- Horváthová, E., Slameňová, D., & Navarová, J. (2010). Administration of Rosemary Essential Oil enhances resistance of rat hepatocytes against DNA-damaging oxidative agents. *Food Chemistry*, 123(1), 151–156. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2010.04.022
- Hubbard, D. T., Blanchard, D. C., Yang, M., Markham, C. M., Gervacio, A., Chun-I, L., & Blanchard, R. J. (2004). Development of defensive behavior and conditioning to cat odor in the rat. *Physiology & Behavior*, 80(4), 525–530. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2003.10.006
- Jaeger, 1960- D. I. E. T. E. R., & Gabbiani, F. (2022). Invertebrate Sensory Systems: Overview. In *Encyclopedia of computational neuroscience* (pp. 62–64). essay, SPRINGER.
- Kaupp, U. B. (2010). Olfactory signalling in vertebrates and insects: Differences and commonalities. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 11(3), 188–200. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2789
- Kurian, S. M., Naressi, R. G., Manoel, D., Barwich, A.-S., Malnic, B., & Saraiva, L. R. (2021). Odor coding in the mammalian olfactory epithelium. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 383(1), 445–456. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-020-03327-1
- Leite, M. P., Fassin Jr., J., Baziloni, E. M., Almeida, R. N., Mattei, R., & Leite, J. R. (2008). Behavioral effects of essential oil of citrus aurantium L. inhalation in rats. *Revista*

Brasileira De Farmacognosia, *18*, 661–666. https://doi.org/10.1590/s0102-695x2008000500003

Lydell, K. (1972). Male rat odor preferences for female urine as a function of sexual experience, urine age, and urine source. *Hormones and Behavior*, *3*(3), 205–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/0018-506x(72)90033-5

Mackintosh, N. (1974). The psychology of animal learning. Academic Press.

- Malnic, B., Hirono, J., Sato, T., & Buck, L. B. (1999). Combinatorial receptor codes for odors. *Cell*, 96(5), 713–723. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0092-8674(00)80581-4
- McDevitt, M. A., & Fantino, E. (1996). Visual stimulus compounding with pigeons. *Behavioural Processes*, 38(3), 265–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0376-6357(96)00037-x
- McDevitt, M. A., & Fantino, E. (1996). Visual stimulus compounding with pigeons. *Behavioural Processes*, 38(3), 265–275. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0376-6357(96)00037-x
- McSweeney, F. K., & Murphy, E. S. (2009). Sensitization and habituation regulate reinforcer effectiveness. *Neurobiology of Learning and Memory*, *92*(2), 189–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nlm.2008.07.002
- Meredith, M. A. (2002). On the neuronal basis for Multisensory Convergence: A brief overview. *Cognitive Brain Research*, 14(1), 31–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0926-6410(02)00059-9
- Miller, L. (1971). Compounding of discriminative stimuli from the same and different sensory modalities 1. *Journal of the Experimental Analysis of Behavior*, *16*(3), 337–342. https://doi.org/10.1901/jeab.1971.16-337
- Miller, L. (1974). Compounding of discriminative stimuli from the same and different sensory modalities which maintain responding on separate levers. *Bulletin of the Psychonomic Society*, 4(4), 426–428. https://doi.org/10.3758/bf03336743
- Millier, P. J., & Beale, I. L. (1977). Response summation to a compound stimulus in a context of choice1. *Journal of the Experimental Analysis of Behavior*, 27(1), 17–21. https://doi.org/10.1901/jeab.1977.27-17
- Moser, A. Y., Bizo, L., & Brown, W. Y. (2019). Olfactory generalization in detector dogs. *Animals*, 9(9), 702. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9090702
- Moser, A. Y., Brown, W. Y., & Bizo, L. A. (2022). Use of a habituation–dishabituation test to determine canine olfactory sensitivity. *Journal of the Experimental Analysis of Behavior*, 118(2), 316–326. https://doi.org/10.1002/jeab.788
- Nielsen, B. L., Rampin, O., Meunier, N., & Bombail, V. (2015). Behavioral responses to odors from other species: Introducing a complementary model of allelochemics involving vertebrates. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2015.00226

- Panlilio, L. V., Weiss, S. J., & Schindler, C. W. (2000). Stimulus compounding enhances conditioned suppression produced by cocaine-paired stimuli. *Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology*, 8(1), 6–13. https://doi.org/10.1037/1064-1297.8.1.6
- Pearce, J. M., Redhead, E. S., & George, D. N. (2002). Summation in autoshaping is affected by the similarity of the visual stimuli to the stimulation they replace. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Animal Behavior Processes*, 28(2), 175–189. https://doi.org/10.1037/0097-7403.28.2.175
- Pérez, O. D., San Martín, R., & Soto, F. A. (2018). Exploring the effect of stimulus similarity on the summation effect in causal learning. *Experimental Psychology*, 65(4), 183–200. https://doi.org/10.1027/1618-3169/a000406
- Pryor, K. (1999).Don't shoot the dog! The new art of teachingand training(Revised edition). Bantam Press. Firstpublished 1984 by Simon & Schuster.
- Shams, L., Wozny, D. R., Kim, R., & Seitz, A. (2011). Influences of multisensory experience on subsequent unisensory processing. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 2. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2011.00264
- Sinding, C., Coureaud, G., Bervialle, B., Martin, C., Schaal, B., & Thomas-Danguin, T. (2015). Experience shapes our odor perception but depends on the initial perceptual processing of the stimulus. *Attention, Perception, & Psychophysics*, 77(5), 1794–1806. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13414-015-0883-8
- Staubli, U., Fraser, D., Faraday, R., & Lynch, G. (1987). Olfaction and the "data" memory system in rats. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 101(6), 757–765. https://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044.101.6.757
- Sündermann, D., Scheumann, M., & Zimmermann, E. (2008). Olfactory predator recognition in predator-naïve gray mouse lemurs (Microcebus murinus). *Journal of Comparative Psychology*, 122(2), 146–155. https://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7036.122.2.146
- Takahashi, L. K., Chan, M. M., & Pilar, M. L. (2008). Predator odor fear conditioning: Current perspectives and New Directions. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 32(7), 1218– 1227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2008.06.001
- Takahashi, L. K., Nakashima, B. R., Hong, H., & Watanabe, K. (2005). The Smell of Danger: A Behavioral and neural analysis of predator odor-induced fear. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 29(8), 1157–1167. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2005.04.008
- Wallace, D. G., Gorny, B., & Whishaw, I. Q. (2002). Rats can track odors, other rats, and themselves: Implications for the study of spatial behavior. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 131(1-2), 185–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0166-4328(01)00384-9

- Wallace, D. G., Gorny, B., & Whishaw, I. Q. (2002). Rats can track odors, other rats, and themselves: Implications for the study of spatial behavior. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 131(1-2), 185–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0166-4328(01)00384-9
- Wallace, K. J., & Rosen, J. B. (2000). Predator odor as an unconditioned fear stimulus in rats: Elicitation of freezing by trimethylthiazoline, a component of Fox feces. *Behavioral Neuroscience*, 114(5), 912–922. https://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044.114.5.912
- Weiss, E. (1967). Stimulus category cue and list difficulty as determinants of the amount of transfer. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 73(3), 446–449. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0024273
- Weiss, S. J. (1964). Summation of response strengths instrumentally conditioned to stimuli in different sensory modalities. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 68(2), 151–155. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0049180
- Weiss, S. J. (1971). Discrimination training and stimulus compounding: Consideration of nonreinforcement and response differentiation consequences of sδ 1. *Journal of the Experimental Analysis of Behavior*, 15(3), 387–402. https://doi.org/10.1901/jeab.1971.15-387
- Weiss, S. J. (1972). Stimulus compounding in free-operant and classical conditioning: A review and analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 78(3), 189–208. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0032956
- Weiss, S. J., & Emurian, H. H. (1970). Stimulus control during the summation of conditioned suppression. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 85(2), 204–209. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0029562
- Weiss, S. J., Kearns, D. N., & Antoshina, M. (2009). Within-subject reversibility of discriminative function in the composite-stimulus control of behavior. *Journal of the Experimental Analysis of Behavior*, 92(3), 367–377. https://doi.org/10.1901/jeab.2009.92-367
- Wesson, D. W., Verhagen, J. V., & Wachowiak, M. (2009). Why sniff fast? the relationship between sniff frequency, odor discrimination, and receptor neuron activation in the rat. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 101(2), 1089–1102. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.90981.2008
- Wilson, D. A. (1998). Synaptic correlates of odor habituation in the rat anterior piriform cortex. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 80(2), 998–1001. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.1998.80.2.998
- Wilson, D. A., & Stevenson, R. J. (2003). Olfactory perceptual learning: The critical role of memory in odor discrimination. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 27(4), 307–328. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0149-7634(03)00050-2
- Wilson, D. A., & Stevenson, R. J. (2010). *Learning to smell olfactory perception from neurobiology to behavior*. Johns Hopkins University Press.

- Yeshurun, Y., & Sobel, N. (2010). An odor is not worth a thousand words: From multidimensional odors to unidimensional odor objects. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 61(1), 219–241. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.60.110707.163639
- Yoder, W. M., Gaynor, L., Windham, E., Lyman, M., Munizza, O., Setlow, B., Bizon, J. L., & Smith, D. W. (2015). Characterizing olfactory binary mixture interactions in Fischer 344 rats using Behavioral Reaction Times. *Chemical Senses*, 40(5), 325–334. https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjv014
- Yoder, W. M., Setlow, B., Bizon, J. L., & Smith, D. W. (2014). Characterizing olfactory perceptual similarity using carbon chain discrimination in Fischer 344 rats. *Chemical Senses*, 39(4), 323–331. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bju001</u>